2002

Katie Shafer v. State of Utah : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

Statement of Jurisdiction

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Const. Art. VIII, § 3 and Utah Code § 78-2-2(2)(j) (West 2002).

Statement of Issues

Whether directing and delivering notice of claim to a listed office of the State's attorney general satisfies the notice of claim provisions of the Governmental Immunity Act?

Whether, because several offices exist for the attorney general, the notice provisions of the Act are satisfied where notice is delivered to one of the listed addresses and the State has an opportunity to investigate, remedy and possibly settle the matter without litigation?

Whether directing and delivering notice of claim to Heber Valley Railroad's executive director satisfies the notice provisions of the Act?

Standard of Review

This case was dismissed on State of Utah's Motion to Dismiss under Utah R. Civ. P. 12 (West 2002). Accordingly, the dismissal is reviewed for correctness accepting all facts as true and according no deference to the decision of the district court. "Because a trial court's dismissal of a complaint under rule 12(b)(6) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure is a conclusion of law, we review for correctness, granting no deference to the trial court's decision." *Larson v. Park City Mun. Corp.*, 955 P.2d 343, 345 (Utah 1998).

Statutory Provisions

Utah Code Ann. § 68-3-8.5 (West 2002)	Addendum 1-2
Utah Code Ann. § 68-3-12 (West 2002)	Addendum 3-6
Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-11 (West 2002)	Addendum 7-8
Utah Code Ann. § 68-3-12 (West 2002)	Addendum 9

Statement of the Case

In June of 1999, 69 year old Katie Shafer came as a tourist to Park City, Utah from her home in Florida. Katie, along with her daughters, decided to ride on the sight seeing train ‘Heber Creeper’ operated by Heber Valley Historic Railroad Authority on June 23, 1999. (R. 2). Heber Valley places stools down for passenger to step on while disembarking. (*Id.*). Upon return to the station, the train stopped adjacent to an unpaved and gravelly surface. Katie, first to disembark, stepped down onto the stool. The stool flipped out from beneath her and Katie suffered a broken leg during the ensuing fall. Katie spent the remaining three days of her vacation in her hotel room.

On returning to Florida, Katie went under the care of a physician and began rehabilitation. Initially, all medical bills were being paid by Utah Risk Management. However, at some point, Katie began to receive unpaid medical bills. Katie, residing in Florida, then contacted counsel in order to protect her interests and preserve her claims. Counsel initially delivered a Notice of Claim to Attorney General Jan Graham and Craig Lacey, executive director for Heber Valley Railroad, via regular postage on May 5, 2000. Then, on June 5, 2000, counsel resent the same Notice of Claim via certified mail.

Return Receipts were received for delivery to, and acceptance by, both the attorney general for the State and the executive director for Heber Valley. (R. 81, 83). After negotiations with Department of Risk Management adjustor Paul Watson failed, a Complaint was filed on October 6, 2000. (R. 1).

On May 29, 2001, the State moved to dismiss for failure to comply with the notice of claim requirements. The State argued that the notice was deficient because, although mailed to an address where the attorney general keeps an office, it was the wrong office at which to deliver a notice of claim. (R. 61-63). The State also argued that delivering a notice to Heber Valley's executive director simply did not apply. The district court, Judge Leslie Lewis presiding, agreed with the State's argument. (R. 107-09). The district court then dismissed Katie Shafer's on February 25, 2002. This appeal followed.

Summary of the Argument

Appellant Katie Shafer delivered notice of claim in satisfaction of the Governmental Immunity Act requirements for three specific reasons. First, Katie 'directed and delivered' a notice of claim to the State's attorney general according to statutory directives for mailing such claims. Under Utah Code Ann. § 68-3-8.5(2)(c) (West 2002) if a claim "is sent by United States mail and either registered or certified, a record authenticated by the United States post office of that registration or certification is considered to be competent evidence that the report or payment was delivered to the person or entity to which it was addressed." Here, notice of claim was sent via certified mail to Attorney General Jan Graham and return receipt received.

Second, while the State's attorney general maintains myriad offices, the statute only requires delivery of a notice without specifying *which* office is competent to receive notice of claim. Since there is no specific office identified, an ambiguity exists which requires inquiry into whether the purposes of the notice of claims provision were met in this case. Because the State had adequate time to investigate, the purpose of a notice have been met and the Katie's claim should not have been dismissed.

Finally, the State operates Heber Valley Historic Railroad as a public body created by statute. Under Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-11(3)(ii)(F) (West 2002), delivering a notice to Heber Valley's executive director satisfies the requirements. Accordingly, the notice of claim provisions were complied with and dismissal by the district court must be reversed.

ARGUMENT

I. PROOF OF NOTICE OF CLAIM BY CERTIFIED MAIL IS CONSIDERED EVIDENCE OF DELIVER.

Delivering a notice of claim to an office of the attorney general through certified mail and acceptance of that notice satisfies the statutory requirements under the Act. The Act requires that, prior to suit being commenced, a notice of claim must be "directed and delivered to the attorney general, when the claim is against the State of Utah." Utah Code Ann. s 63-30-11(3)(b)(ii)(F) (West 2002). Claims against the State of Utah are "barred unless notice of claim is filed with the attorney general within one year after the claim arises." Utah Code Ann. s 63-30-12 (West 2002). Katie Shafer forwarded a notice of

claim, via certified mail, to the Qwest telephone directory listing for Jan Graham, Attorney General, 515 East 100 South, Salt Lake City, Utah. (R. at 65). This office is one of several listed in the Qwest telephone directory for Salt Lake City. Indeed, the attorney general lists over The notice of claim was accepted as evidenced by the Return Receipt. (R. at 81).

Directing and delivering notice of claim to the attorney general at a listed address and through certified mail conclusively establishes receipt of the notice. Under Utah Code Ann. s 68-3-8.5(2)(c) (West 2002), any claim which "is sent by United States mail and either registered or certified, a record authenticated by the United States post office of that registration or certification is considered to be competent evidence that the [claim] was delivered to the person or entity to which it was addressed."¹ The State argued in its Reply Memorandum, and the trial court agreed, that there was "no evidence" that the notice of claim was received by the attorney general. (R. at 90, 108). However, under the statute, directing and delivering the notice via certified mail conclusively demonstrates delivery of the claim.

Additionally, receipt of the notice by a person other than the attorney general herself is also consistent with statutory rules of construction. "[W]ords used to denote an executive or ministerial officer, may include any... person performing the duties of such officer, either generally or in special cases." Utah Code Ann. § 68-3-12(2)(v) (West

¹ "Report" means a report, claim, tax return, statement or other document. Utah Code Ann. § 68-3-8.5 (West 2002).

2002). No matter who received the notice at the address to which it was sent, they are by statute performing the function of the attorney general's office when they accept certified mail.

As noted in *Scarborough v. Granite School Dist.*, 531 P.2d 480, 482 (Utah 1975) "the 'filing' of a [notice of] claim should include these essentials: that it be ... delivered to someone authorized to or responsible for receiving it." The attorney general received notice of claim when the certified mail was received at a designated office of the attorney general. If the person receiving the certified mail was unauthorized to accept it, it would have been rejected and Katie Shafer would have sought to deliver it to a person who could receive notice. Dismissal was inappropriate and must be reversed because there can be no question that the attorney general received notice of claim.

This case is similar to that of *Larson v. Park City Mun. Corp.*, 955 P.2d 343, 345 (Utah 1998). There, "neither the Utah Governmental Immunity Act nor the Utah Municipal Code states how or in what manner a notice of claim should be filed with the city council." *Id.* at 345-46. Relying upon statutory definitions and Utah R. Civ. P. 4, the claimant sought to deliver notice of claim to the city council through the city clerk. The *Larson* court found that because a statutory basis existed for the claimant's method, the notice was effective.

Here, similarly, the Governmental Immunity Act is silent as to how and in what manner a notice of claim should be filed with the attorney general. Unlike *Larson*, however, Utah Code Ann. s 68-3-8.5(2)(c) (West 2002) is directly on point and

expressly recognizes that the certified mail receipt 'is considered to be competent evidence that the [claim] was delivered' to the attorney general. Because Katie Shafer delivered a notice in compliance with the statutory requirements, dismissal of her claims must be reversed.

The trial court erred when it agreed that the notice provisions require the attorney general him or herself to be served with a notice of claim. "The statute does not specify which office to serve because it is the Attorney General who must him or herself be served and not any one particular office." (R. at 108). Nothing in the statute supports the proposition that the attorney general must personally be served with a notice. Indeed, the statute merely requires 'directing and delivering' the notice. Moreover, common grammar dictates that referral to a proper noun requires capitalization while useage of a general noun employs lower case letters. For example: President George W. Bush vs. the president of the United States. *See, e.g.,* Harbrace College Handbook, 570-71, 11th ed.(1990). Here, the legislature chose to use lower case letters indicating that it is the attorney general in the informal sense, and not a proper person who must receive notice of claim.

If the legislature desired to require delivery of a notice to the Attorney General him or herself, they would have used capital letters to denote the proper noun form as opposed to using lower case to denote the attorney general as an office. "In construing a statute, we assume that each term in the statute was used advisedly; thus the statutory words are read literally, unless such a reading is unreasonably confused or inoperable."

Johnson v. Redevelopment Agency of Salt Lake County, 913 P.2d 723, 727 (Utah 1995)(citations omitted). The mere fact that the office is occupied by a person does not mean that the notice of claim should be personally received by them.

Indeed, one of the very purposes of the notice of claim provision is to avoid difficulties which might be associated with a change in the administrator after election. "[N]otice of claim minimizes difficulties that might arise from changes in administrations." *Sears v. Southworth*, 563 P.2d 192, 193 (Utah 1977). Requiring personal service on the Attorney General would not minimize difficulties arising during a change in administration and would, in fact, complicate matters if the person served were to leave office shortly after service.

Finally, three recent decisions of this Court, while 'strictly construing' the notice of claim requirements, are distinguishable from this case. First, in *Pigs Gun Club, Inc. v. Sanpete County*, 2002 UT 17, 42 P.3d 379 property owners who were not even listed on the notice of claim sought to join in an action. Because they wholly failed to file notices, they were denied the opportunity to pursue their claims. Second, in *Greene v. Utah Transit Authority*, 440 Utah Adv. Rep. 3, ¶ 13, 37 P.3d 1156 the claimant alleged 'misrepresentation' by a claims adjuster who suggested all correspondence, including the notice of claim, should be directed to him. The claimant never even attempted to file notice of claim with the board of the UTA as required by the statute.

Third, in *Wheeler v. McPherson*, 440 Utah Adv. Rep. 3, ¶ 3, 40 P.3d 632, a case involving claims against a county, the claimants directed and delivered notice of claim to

the county commissioner and the county's insurance carrier. However, by statute, the notice of claim against a county was to be 'directed and delivered' to the county clerk, not the commissioners or the county insurance carrier. *Id.* at ¶ 10.

The claimants in each of these cases failed to strictly comply with the notice provisions, either by wholly failing to file a notice or by directing and delivering it to the wrong person. Here, by contrast, the notice was directed and delivered through certified mail to the attorney general, the appropriate person to receive notice of claim. Because, by statute, the attorney general received the notice of claim, the statutory requirements have been met and dismissal of this case based on failure to comply must be reversed.

II. BECAUSE THE ATTORNEY GENERAL LISTS SEVERAL OFFICES, THE PURPOSE OF THE NOTICE PROVISION IS MET WHERE THE STATE HAS OPPORTUNITY TO INVESTIGATE AND SETTLE THE MATTER.

At best, there exists an ambiguity in the statute because the attorney general maintains several offices yet the Act is silent as to which may properly receive a notice of claim. The Salt Lake Qwest directory in effect at the time Katie Shafer delivered her notice listed seven different addresses. The State admits that one of the above addresses received notice. (R. 61).² Neither Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-11 nor § 63-30-12 suggest that a particular address is appropriate for receiving notice. In *Greene*, 2001 UT 109, ¶

² Qwest listed the following addresses: 160 E. 300 S., Salt Lake City; 236 State Capitol, Salt Lake City; 515 E. 100 S., Salt Lake City; 5272 College Dr. Suite 300, Murray; 1594 W. North Temple, Suite 300, Salt Lake City; 55 North University #219, Provo; 2540 Washington Blvd., Ogden. (R. at 79-80).

15 this Court observed that:

the legislature has explicitly declared how, what, when, and to whom a party must direct and deliver a Notice in order to preserve his or her right to maintain an action against a governmental entity... In the absence of some ambiguity, we will not disturb explicit legislative requirements and read into the statute an actual notice exception.

Here, the statute does indeed identify the how, what, when and to whom, but omits the all important 'where.'

In *Greene*, of course, the 'where' was not at issue both because the plaintiff admittedly never delivered a notice to the board as the statute required as well as the fact that UTA lists a single address. Because the Act fails to designate a specific address while the attorney general keeps several disparate offices, an inherent ambiguity exists in applying the notice requirement.

One alternative would be to require delivery of a notice to every address listed by the attorney general. This Court expressly rejected a similar solution in *Larson*. See, *Larson*, 955 P.2d at 346, n. 4. Another alternative would be to do exactly as the State suggests and 'serve' whoever currently occupies the attorney general position. Of course, in order to avoid argument that the 'wrong' address was served and service accepted by an 'unauthorized' individual, claimants would likely settle for nothing less than service directly on the Attorney General him or herself, where ever they might most easily locate him or her, including their home. The more reasonable solution is to determine whether the purpose of the notice provision was accomplished.

Although this Court has apparently never addressed the issue as to what must be

done when an ambiguity arises in the notice provisions in the Governmental Immunity Act, the Court of Appeals has discussed the matter. In *Brittain v. State By and Through Utah Dept. of Employment Sec.*, 882 P.2d 666 (Utah Ct. App. 1994) Brittain was injured when he fell on icy steps at the State Department of Employment. Brittain filed a notice of claim under the prior version of the subsection currently at issue. That version required delivery of a notice to both the attorney general and the 'agency concerned.' Brittain delivered notices to the attorney general and the State Department of Risk Management. After negotiations failed, Brittain commenced a legal action and the State moved to dismiss on the basis that the notice provisions were not complied with because the Department of Risk Management was not the agency concerned. The State argued that the Department of Employment was the agency concerned, the trial court agreed and dismissed the case.

On appeal, the Utah Court of Appeals directly addressed the ambiguity in the phrase agency concerned. "Because the term "agency concerned" is not clear on its face, we will interpret the notice requirement of section 63-30-12 in a manner consistent with the overall purpose of the Utah Governmental Immunity Act." *Id.* at 670. *Brittain* relied on this Court's instruction that it "is necessary to consider the policy of the notice requirement so that in any particular case the facts can be evaluated to determine if the intent of the statute has been accomplished by substantial compliance with the statutory directive." *Stahl v. Utah Transit Authority*, 618 P.2d 480, 482 (Utah 1980)(interpreting notice provisions of Transit Act).

Where the State has the opportunity to investigate an incident, correct the situation and possibly settle the matter without costly litigation, the purpose of a notice provision has been met.

[T]he primary purpose of a notice of claim requirement is to afford the responsible public authorities an opportunity to pursue a proper and timely investigation of the merits of a claim and to arrive at a timely settlement, if appropriate, thereby avoiding the expenditure of public revenue for costly and unnecessary litigation.

Stahl, 618 P.2d at 482.

Here, the State was given adequate notice and made aware that Katie actually intended to assert her claims. The State, through the Department of Risk Management, had been paying some of Katie's medical bills, even prior to her retention of legal counsel. (R. at 76). Moreover, the State does not claim that it was never given opportunity to investigate this case or that it did not receive the notice of claim. Additionally, counsel for Katie Shafer spoke with Paul Watson, an adjustor for Risk Management, after filing of the notice of claim. Mr. Watson indicated that he did not want to have a trial and wished to settle the case without filing of a law suit. (R. at 77) The primary purpose of affording the State an opportunity to investigate, remedy and settle the claim prior to legal action was fulfilled.

Because the State maintains several attorney general offices, it cannot be heard to complain that a notice was filed with the wrong office when no prejudice exists. Ample opportunity existed in which to investigate and possibly settle the claim. The purposes of a notice provision have been met and the district court decision to dismiss this case was

in error. Accordingly, Katie requests that this Court reverse the district court and allow Katie to pursue her day in court.

III. DELIVERING NOTICE OF CLAIM TO HEBER VALLEY RAILROAD'S EXECUTIVE OFFICER SATISFIED THE NOTICE REQUIREMENTS.

The Act's notice provision may also be satisfied by delivering notice to an executive or member of the board when the claim involves a public corporation. Notice of claim may be directed to "a member of the governing board, the executive director, or executive secretary, when the claim is against any other public board, commission, or body." Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-11(3)(ii)(F) (West 2002). Here, Katie's injuries arose while disembarking from the Heber Creeper, a sight seeing train operated by the Heber Valley Historic Railroad. Heber Valley is a public corporation created by statute. *See*, Utah Code Ann. §§ 9-3-301 *et. seq.* (West 2002).

The State admits that it maintains Heber Valley Historic Railroad. (R. 66) The State also admits that Katie delivered a notice to Craig H. Lacey, the executive director of Heber Valley. (*Id.*). However, the district court found the notice ineffective because the claim was not against "any other public board, commission or body." (R. 109). Based on the admission by the State that it maintains Heber Valley and the receipt of notice by Mr. Lacey, the district court erred in concluding that notice to be ineffective. Accordingly, the dismissal must be reversed because all pleadings and admissions indicate adequate

notice was delivered.³

CONCLUSION

Because return receipt for certified mail shows acceptance of the notice to the State's attorney general, delivery of the notice is considered established by statute. Additionally, there exists an ambiguity in applying the Act's requirement of notice where several attorney general offices are kept. However, the State had actual notice in this case along with an opportunity to investigate, cure the environment giving rise to the claim, and possibly settle the case. Accordingly, the purpose of supplying a notice has been met and dismissal was incorrect.

Finally, the State admits operating Heber Valley Railroad, and admits the Railroad's executive director received notice. Because the notice was received under the Act's direction to deliver notice to the executive director, dismissal was inappropriate based on failure to comply with the Act. The State should not be allowed to hide from liability for the negligence of its agents where adequate notice was provided. Accordingly, Katie Shafer respectfully requests that this Court reverse the dismissal.

³ After dismissal by Judge Lewis, counsel for Katie refiled a Complaint directly against Heber Valley Historic Railroad Authority in the Fourth Judicial District Court. That action is premised on (1) application of the savings statute and (2) the fact that operation of a sightseeing railroad is not a governmental function and therefore not subject to the Governmental Immunity Act. Counsel for Katie Shafer invited the State to stay the current appeal until such time as the Fourth District Court could resolve inevitable argument on these two issues. The State refused this invitation. Nonetheless, to the extent this Court finds judicial economy would be better served by a single resolution and opinion on all these issues arising from a common incident, counsel for Katie invites this Court to stay current appellate proceedings.