2002

Katie Shafer v. State of Utah : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court has long held that the notice-of-claim provisions of the Utah Governmental Immunity Act require strict compliance. Absent strict compliance, a claim under the act must be dismissed. Recent decisions have reemphasized that a claim cannot go forward unless the notice of claim fully complies with the statutory mandates. See, e.g., Greene v. Utah Transit Auth., 2001 UT 109, 37 P.3d 1156; Brown v. Utah Transit Auth., 2002 UT 15, 40 P.3d 638.

The sole defendant named in this case is the State of Utah. Statute is clear that for claims against the State, the notice of claim must be directed and delivered to the attorney general. In this case, the district court correctly held that a notice sent to a division within the Attorney General's Office cannot substitute for delivery to the individual serving as the State's attorney general. As the district court correctly observed, a contrary decision would lead to the kind of uncertainty regarding notice that the statutory requirements exist to eliminate.

Because plaintiff's notice of claim did not strictly comply with the statute governing claims against the State, the district court's dismissal of the claim was correct and is entitled to this Court's affirmance.

ARGUMENT

I. DIRECTING AND DELIVERING NOTICE TO A SATELLITE DIVISION OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL'S OFFICE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE DIRECTION AND DELIVERY TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL.

The Utah Governmental Immunity Act controls all claims for injury against governmental entities:

Any person having a claim for injury against a governmental entity, or against its employee for an act or omission occurring during the performance of the employee's duties, within the scope of employment, or under color of authority shall file a written notice of claim with the entity before maintaining an action, regardless of whether or not the function giving rise to the claim is characterized as governmental.

Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-11(2) (Supp. 2001). The requirement to file a written notice of claim is mandatory. The statute further prescribes the person to whom notice must be provided. In each case, the notice is to be directed and delivered to a specified individual:

- (b) (ii) (A) *the city or town recorder*, when the claim is against an incorporated city or town;
- (B) *the county clerk*, when the claim is against a county;
- (C) *the superintendent or business administrator of the board*, when the claim is against a school district or board of education;

(D) *the president or secretary of the board*, when the claim is against a special district;
(E) *the attorney general*, when the claim is against the State of Utah;
or
(F) *a member of the governing board, the executive director, or executive secretary*, when the claim is against any other public board, commission, or body.

Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-11(3)(b)(ii) (Supp. 2001) (emphasis added). As the Court observed in Greene v. Utah Transit Authority, prior to 1998 the notice provisions were somewhat ambiguous regarding the identity of the person to whom notice must be delivered. However, in 1998 the legislature clarified the delivery requirements to make explicit "how, what, when, and to whom a party must direct and deliver a Notice in order to preserve his or her right to maintain an action against a governmental entity." Greene, 2001 UT 109, ¶15. In the Court's words, the amendment "has resolved any potential ambiguities as to whom the Notice must be delivered." Id. at ¶14. The Court concluded that "[w]here, as here, the statute is clear, readily available, and easily accessible by counsel, there is no reason to require anything less than strict compliance." Id. at ¶14.

Plaintiff makes two arguments based on statute: first, under Utah Code Ann. § 68-3-8.5 (Supp. 2001), that the existence of a certified mail receipt raises an evidentiary presumption that the certified mail has been delivered to the person to whom it was addressed; and second, under section 63-30-11(3)(b)(ii), that under the rules of statutory construction, the statute contemplates receipt by someone other than the attorney general.

As noted above, these arguments were not made in the district court and are consequently waived for purposes of appeal. "This rule is based, in part, on the principle that it is unfair to fault the court for failing to rule correctly on an issue it was never given the opportunity to consider." Ellis v. Swensen, 2000 UT 101, ¶30, 16 P.3d 1233. Plaintiff has neither acknowledged this principle nor provided any rationale for ignoring it. Moreover, even if the Court were to reach these newly raised arguments, neither supports plaintiff's position.

The Court's observation in Greene that the amendment of section 63-30-11 "clarif[ied] exactly to whom Notices must be directed and delivered" (2001 UT 109, ¶13) forecloses plaintiff's contention that receipt of notice by someone other than the attorney general is consistent with the statute (see Aplt. Brief at 5). Her citation to the rules of construction contained in Utah Code Ann. § 68-3-12(2)(v) for the proposition that "attorney general" includes other individuals who perform duties falling within the attorney general's purview is unavailing. The language of subsection (2)(v), in contrast to other subsections of the same statute, is permissive, not mandatory: "words used to denote an executive or ministerial officer, *may* include any . . . other person performing" the same duties. Utah Code Ann. § 68-3-12(2)(v) (Supp. 2001) (emphasis added). Every other subsection but one uses the word "includes" or "means" as its operating verb instead of the permissive or conditional language; the definition of "town" in subsection (2)(y),

which "*may* mean incorporated town and *may* include city," is the sole exception (Utah Code Ann. § 68-3-12(2)(y) (Supp. 2001) (emphasis added). It is clear from this disparity that the distinction between the mandatory and permissive language is intentional. To hold otherwise would deprive the word "may" of meaning, contrary to the principles of statutory interpretation articulated by this Court: "We will avoid an interpretation which renders portions of, or words in, a statute superfluous or inoperative." Platts v. Parents Helping Parents, 947 P.2d 658, 662 (Utah 1997). Further, "the word 'may' in its most usual meaning does not import certainty, but uncertainty. That is, that whatever is referred to, either *may* or *may not* be, or occur." Grant v. Utah State Land Bd., 485 P.2d 1035, 1036 (Utah 1971) (footnote omitted). Consequently, the "rule" cited by plaintiff does not support her conclusion that the immunity act's statutory reference to "attorney general" necessarily includes others performing ancillary duties.

Finally, in construing a statute, "[f]oundational rules require that we assume that each term of a statute was used advisedly; and that each should be given an interpretation and application in accord with their [sic] usually accepted meaning, unless the context otherwise requires." Id. (footnotes omitted); see also Bott v. DeLand, 922 P.2d 732, 742 (Utah 1996), overruled in part on other grounds by Spackman v. Bd. of Educ., 2000 UT 87, 16 P.3d 533; Nelson v. Salt Lake County, 905 P.2d 872, 875 (Utah 1995). Especially in the context of a list of specific individuals to whom notice must be directed and

delivered, interpreting section 63-30-11's reference to "the attorney general" as including someone other than the elected official would contradict both the usually accepted meaning of the phrase and the context in which it is placed, contrary to the principles under which the Court interprets statutory language. In accord with these principles, "the attorney general" in section 63-30-11(3)(b)(ii)(E) refers to the individual who holds that office. Plaintiff has provided no contrary authority.

Plaintiff's reliance on Utah Code Ann. § 68-3-8.5 is equally misplaced.¹ Her argument that a certified mail receipt evidences receipt by the person to whom the mail was directed "at a listed address" (Aplt. Brief at 5) proves too much. Under her theory, she could address a document by certified mail to, for example, the president of a major university at a remote "listed" campus or to the chief executive officer of a national corporation at a "listed" manufacturing facility far from the corporate headquarters. As long as someone, with or without authority, signed the return receipt, the document would be deemed delivered to the addressee. In this case, plaintiff did not use the listed address for the executive offices of the Attorney General but directed her notice of claim to an address specified only for the Child Support Division (see R. 79-80). Such misdirection

¹Section 68-3-8.5 was no effective until April 30, 2001, well after plaintiff filed her notice of claim in this case. However, the language on which her argument relies was formerly found in Utah Code Ann. § 63-37-2 (1997).

does nothing to provide the notice she argues the statute is intended to confer. Moreover, notice to an assistant attorney general in a satellite office has been held by the Utah Court of Appeals not to suffice for notice to the attorney general. See Thimmes v. Utah State Univ., 2001 UT App 93, ¶7, 22 P.3d 257 (holding notice to the Division of Risk Management "because an assistant attorney general maintains an office there" ineffective to comply with statute).

Plaintiff argues that "[i]f the person receiving the certified mail was unauthorized to accept it, it would have been rejected and Katie Shafer would have sought to deliver it to a person who could receive notice" (Aplt. Brief at 6). The mail receipt on which plaintiff relies (R. 44 and 81) shows only that it was stamped "RECEIVED JUN 08 2000 Utah State Mail." Because nothing indicates that State Mail is unauthorized to accept documents directed to the Child Support Division under the Attorney General's name for purposes of that Division, there is no reason to believe that State Mail had a duty to reject a document sent to that address. Rather, it is plaintiff's legal duty to direct and deliver her notice of claim to the individual explicitly identified by statute.

By suggesting that another person would be authorized to receive the notice of claim, plaintiff ignores the plain language of the statute and attempts to reintroduce the very ambiguity into the notice provision that this Court has held the 1998 amendment cured. What plaintiff seeks, at bottom, is an "actual notice" standard: "Dismissal was

inappropriate and must be reversed because there can be no question that the attorney general received notice of claim" (Aplt. Brief at 6). The Court has repeatedly and conclusively rejected this position. See, e.g., Scarborough v. Granite Sch. Dist., 531 P.2d 480, 482 (Utah 1975) ("We have consistently held that where a cause of action is based upon a statute, full compliance with its requirements is a condition precedent to the right to maintain a suit"); Rushton v. Salt Lake County, 1999 UT 36, ¶19, 977 P.2d 1201 ("We have consistently required strict compliance with the requirements of the Immunity Act. Actual notice does not cure a party's failure to meet these requirements"); Greene, 2001 UT 109, ¶15, 37 P.3d 1156. Given these precedents and the plain language of the statute, plaintiff has provided no grounds on which to disturb the district court's decision.

II. NOTICE PROVIDED TO THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF AN INDEPENDENT STATE AGENCY DOES NOT FULFILL THE STATUTORY MANDATE FOR NOTICE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL.

Plaintiff briefly argues that section 63-30-11(3)(b)(ii)(F) provides an alternative to notice on the attorney general because the Heber Valley Historic Railroad Authority, which operates the Heber Creeper, "is a public corporation created by statute" (Aplt. Brief at 13). She contends that the notice of claim delivered to Craig Lacey, the Authority's executive director, is sufficient to fulfill her statutory duty of notice. See Aplt. Brief at 13-14 ("Based on the admission by the State that it maintains Heber Valley and the

receipt of notice by Mr. Lacey, the district court erred in concluding that notice to be ineffective. Accordingly, the dismissal must be reversed because all pleadings and admissions indicate adequate notice was delivered").

The statute belies plaintiff's construction. Under section 63-30-11(3)(b)(ii)(F), notice upon Mr. Lacey as executive director of the Heber Valley Historic Railroad Authority would be effective only were the claim against a public board, commission, or body *other than* the State or the entities specifically listed in subparts (b)(ii)(A) through (D) of the statute. Because the State is the sole defendant in the present case, any notice to Mr. Lacey is irrelevant to the determination of whether the attorney general was adequately served.² Again, plaintiff is relying on an "actual notice" standard for which she neither provides case precedent nor acknowledges precedents against her position. Her abbreviated analysis cannot be credited and provides no basis to reverse the district court's dismissal of the case.

²Plaintiff's invitation to stay this appeal pending the outcome of a newly filed case (see Aplt. Brief at 14 n.3) should be rejected. The issues that she identifies the new case as raising, application of the savings statute and governmental function analysis, are not relevant to the issue before the Court in the present case; however, the resolution of the present case may well affect the viability of a new trial court action. Moreover, no motion to stay has been properly submitted for the Court's consideration.

CONCLUSION

The notice provisions of the Governmental Immunity Act unmistakably identify the attorney general as the individual to whom notice of a claim against the State must be directed and delivered. Mailing notice to a subsidiary office staffed only by assistant attorneys general does not comply with the statute. Because, as the Court has held, the statute is clear and unambiguous, it requires strict compliance. The district court correctly concluded that plaintiff did not comply with the statute's strictures, and its dismissal of plaintiff's claim on this ground warrants affirmance here.

For these reasons, as more fully explained above, the State respectfully requests the Court to affirm the district court's judgment of dismissal.